I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners are Michael and Helen Uribe (the "Uribes" or "Uribe"). 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4), this Court should review the 

unpublished decision by Division III of the Court of Appeals filed on May 

5, 2015 in Uribe v. Libey, Ensley and Nelson, PLLC, et al. (Appendix A) 

Uribes' Motion for Reconsideration filed on May 20, 2015 is (Appendix 

B); the Order Denying Reconsideration filed on June 9, 2015 (Appendix 

C); and the Order Denying Motion to Publish filed on June 9, 2015 

(Appendix D). 

On June 4, 2015, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion 

in Merry v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., 2015 WL 3532992. This 

case presents many similar issues regarding a trustee's compliance with 

the Deeds of Trust Act, RCW 61.24 (DT A) and the waiver of legal claims 

for the trustee's failure to comply with the DTA. (Appendix E) 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Review by the Supreme Court is required in order to 

resolve a direct conflict between this case, Merry, and many prior 

decisions of this Supreme Court and Division I and II on three issues: 

(a) Strict construction of the DTA in favor ofthe borrower; 

(b) Strict compliance with the DTA by the trustee; and 
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(c) The role of"minor, technical" violations ofthe DTA 

and waiver of the right to set the trustee's sale aside or sue for damages by 

failing to obtain an injunction prior to the trustee's sale. 

2. Review by the Supreme Court is required in order to 

resolve a direct conflict between Uribe and Udall v. T.D. Escrow Svcs., 

Inc. 159 Wash. 2d 903, 154 P.2d 882 (2007) ("Udalf'), wherein this Court 

ruled that the trustee formed a contract when he accepted the final bid at 

the trustee's sale. Division III's opinion also conflicts with the RCW 

61.24. 100, and Donovick v. Seafirst, 111 Wn.2d 413, 757 P.2d 1378 

(1985) ("Donovick'') regarding multiple foreclosures. 

3. Review by the Supreme Court is required in order to 

resolve a direct conflict between this case and numerous Washington 

appellate cases requiring a deed of trust trustee to exercise independent 

discretion as an impartial third party with fiduciary duties to both lender 

and borrower. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Uribes are the owners of an excavation company and were 

developing real property in Benton County ("Benton Property"). 
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In 2007, Uribe obtained a line of credit from the Bank of Whitman 

(BW) for $571,000 to finance a pipeline construction project in Idaho.1 

Uribe's line of credit for $571,000 was evidenced by a promissory note 

and secured with a 1st lien deed of trust on the "Benton Property" (see: CP 

0475-0488) and by Uribe's heavy equipment pursuant to a security 

agreement. See: CP 0525-0540, CP 0603, para. 4. The line of credit was 

also secured with real property in Franklin County, the "Franklin 

Property," with a 2nd lien mortgage. The Benton Property was valued at 

$1,500,000. (CP 856-860). 

The Uribes also borrowed $1,655,185 from BW. That loan was 

secured with 1st lien deed of trust on the "Franklin Property" (see: CP 

0457, Para. 2) and with a 2nd lien mortgage on the "Benton Property." (CP 

201-213). The Franklin Property was valued at $521,221 (CP 858). 

BW commenced a non-judicial foreclosure on September 8, 2010 

and hired attorney Libey as the "Successor Trustee." BW had also 

previously hired Libey to file a replevin action to repossess and sell the 

Uribes' construction equipment. (CP 518-521). 

The Resignation and Appointment of Successor Trustee (RAST) 

was recorded at 4:02pm on September 8, 2010. (CP 563-565) However, 

The failing Bank's role in the demise of Uribe's pipeline 
construction business is the subject of FDIC v. Uribe, Inc., 171 Wn.App. 
683, 287 P.3d 694 (2012). 
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Libey had already recorded the Notice of Trustee's Sale at 1:57pm- two 

hours before the RAST. (CP 501-507). The RAST appointing Libey was 

notarized two weeks before it was actually signed by the former trustee. 

According to the Notices of Trustee's Sales (2), the amount due on 

the Benton loan was approximately $420,000 and the amount due on the 

Franklin loan was approximately $2,432,990. See: CP 0495-0499 and CP 

0500-0507. 

During the foreclosure the trustee ("Libey") acted solely as the 

attorney and advocate for BW, thereby violating his duties of good faith 

and impartiality to Uribe. For example, after the Notices of Trustee's Sale 

for both properties were purportedly "given" by Libey, Libey advised BW 

of a way for BW to foreclose multiple properties securing a single note 

ostensibly based on Donovick. (CP 492). This scheme was designed to 

discourage other bidders for the Benton Property because it was worth a 

million dollars more than the Franklin Property and Libey had learned that 

a neighbor might bid up to the fair market value for the Benton Property at 

the trustee's sale. (See CP 492-493).2 

2 In contrast to this case, Donovick involved only one note securing 
multiple parcels. After Donovick was decided in 1988, the legislature 
amended RCW 61.24.100 to permit the foreclosure of as many parcels as 
were encumbered by deeds of trusts that secured one note. See RCW 
61.24.100(3)(b). This amendment covers that situation, but not the 
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Recognizing the potential liability, Libey requested an "Indemnity 

Agreement" from BW in case Libey, as the Successor Trustee, takes 

" ... excess money from the bidder and applies it to the other loan" and then 

gets sued by Uribe. !d. The "Indemnity Agreement" protects Libey from 

liability for: " ... any acts, errors, or omissions as trustee or successor 

trustee to any deed of trust foreclosure action." CP 0492-0493. 

The trustee's sales took place on December 17, 2010. First, Libey 

sold the Franklin Property at 10:00 a.m. for $390,000 cash by the 

satisfaction in full of the secured obligation. CP 0494-0500 (emphasis 

added). Next, Libey sold the Benton County Property at 11:00 a.m. for 

$1,200,000 cash by the full satisfaction ofthe secured obligation. CP 

0512-0517 (emphasis added). 

BW also replevied and sold Uribe's construction equipment (CP 

0518-0521) before the trustees' sales, at public auctions, and failed to 

account for $28L245 received after both trustee's sales. CP 0523-0524. 

Libey did not credit these proceeds to the Benton loan. CP 523-524. 

V.ARGUMENT 

Under RAP 13 .4(b )(2) and ( 4 ), this Court will accept review of a 

Court of Appeals decision that "is in conflict with another decision of the 

situation presented here where there are two (2) notes secured by two (2) 
separate parcels. 
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Supreme Court or Court of Appeals" and when "the petition involves an 

issue of substantial public interest." The decision by Division III in this 

case satisfies both criteria. Division III holds that a borrower waives the 

right to contest a trustee's sale post sale despite the fact that the trustee had 

no statutory authority to conduct the trustee's sale. 

In light of the many similar cases pending on these issues 

statewide and Division III's aberrant decisions here and in Merry, which 

directly contradicts longstanding precedent in Divisions I and II and this 

Court, an issue of substantial public interest is presented by the erroneous 

decisions eliminating the mandate ofRCW 61.24.010. 

A. Strict Construction and Strict Compliance is Required. 

RCW 61.24.010(2) states: 

(2) .............. Only upon recording the appointment of a 
successor trustee in each county in which the deed of 
trust is recorded, the successor trustee shall be vested with 
all powers of an original trustee. (Emphasis added) 

Under Washington black letter law, the DTA must be construed in 

favor ofborrowers because of the relative ease with which lenders can 

forfeit borrowers' interests and the lack of judicial oversight in conducting 

the non-judicial foreclosure sales. Udall, pgs. 915-916. Moreover, 

lenders must strictly comply with the DTA and courts must strictly 

construe the DTA in the borrowers favor because the DTA dispenses with 
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many protections commonly enjoyed by borrowers in judicial foreclosures 

(Alb ice v. Premier Mortgages Services of Wash. Inc. 174 Wn.2d 560, 568, 

276 P.3d 1277 (2012) ("Albice"); citing Udall at 915-16 ("As we have 

already mentioned and held, under this statute, strict compliance is 

required.")) 

Division III's decision goes to the heart of the interpretation and 

implementation of the DTA. Just how strict is strict construction? How 

strict is strict compliance? How strictly must a trustee comply with his 

duties of impartiality and good faith? 

The answer from the Washington appellate courts has always been 

Strict means Strict! However, Division III has now taken a different tack 

from this long line of cases, ruling that courts need not strictly construe the 

DT A. And, a trustee need not comply with the "minor, technical" details 

imposed by the DTA, as enunciated in Merry. 

Division III also ignores the plain and unambiguous words of 

RCW 61.24.010 that make it crystal clear that: 

(i) The lawful beneficiary must appoint a successor 
trustee before the successor trustee is ''vested" with all the 
powers of the original trustee, and 

(ii). A lawful successor trustee must be properly 
appointed to have the powers of the original trustee. 
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Without a proper appointment, Libey had no statutory 

power to issue a Notice of Trustee's Sale. Bavand v. One West Bank 

Bank, 176 Wn.App. 475, 309 P3d 636 (Div 1, 2013) is directly on 

point. OneWest signed the appointment ofRTS as trustee on 12-

15-10. However, the assignment ofthe beneficial interest in the 

deed of trust to OneWest did not occur until the next day. RTS 

commenced foreclosure proceedings by issuing and recording the 

Notice of Trustee's Sale about three weeks later on 1-6-11. 

The Division I held: 

The plain words of this statute establish that the beneficiary 
of a deed of trust is the sole entity entitled to appoint a 
successor trustee if the beneficiary elects to replace the 
original trustee named in that deed of trust. This statute 
makes equally clear that only upon the recording of the 
appointment of a successor trustee with the auditor in the 
relevant county is a successor trustee "vested with all the 
powers of an original trustee." Among these powers is, of 
course, the power to conduct a non-judicial foreclosure 
culminating in a trustee's sale. The only reasonable 
reading of this statute is that the successor trustee must be 
properly appointed to have the powers of the original 
trustee. 

Bavand, 176 Wn.App. at 486-87. Emphasis added. 

Division III held that Bavand and Schroeder v. Excelsior 

Mgmt. Grp., 177 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) ("Schroeder"), 

cited by Uribe, are inapposite precedent because "both of these 

cases dealt with situations where the lender lacked statutory 
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authority under the DTA to initiate the foreclosure." This is a 

plainly incorrect interpretation of these cases. First, both cases hold 

that the DTA must be strictly construed by the courts and strictly 

complied with by the foreclosing trustee and lender. And, Bavand 

holds, under the rule of strict compliance, that the timing of the 

recording ofthe RAST is critical with respect to the trustee's 

authority to conduct a foreclosure. 

As in our case, the successor trustee in Bavand was not the 

successor trustee at the time it "gave" Notice of Trustee's Sale." 

The Notice of Trustee's Sale was therefore void, ab initio, and the 

foreclosure was correctly set aside by the Division I Court of 

Appeals. 

B. Procedural Irregularities Void a Trustee's Sale and 
Cannot be Waived. 

Division III held: 

However, the Uribes had constructive knowledge of the 
order in which the documents were recorded by the county 
clerk. That is sufficient for waiver. 

Again, RCW 61.24.010(2) states, in relevant part: 

... ONLYupon recording the appointment of successor 
trustee .... the successor trustee shall be vested with all 
powers of the original trustee. 
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The court of appeal's opinion ignores Albice, where this 

court held that the failure to strictly comply with the DTA time 

restrictions results in losing the statutory authority to conduct the 

trustee's sale: 

When a party's authority to act is prescribed by a statute 
and the statute includes time limits, as under RCW 
61.24.040(6), failure to act within that time violates the 
statute and divests the party of statutory authority. Without 
statutory authority, any action taken is invalid. 

Albice, 175 Wn.2d at 568. 

Division III also misconstrued Schroeder, a case involving the 

statutorily prohibited non-judicial foreclosure of agricultural land: 

We conclude that the respondents' reliance on Plein is 
misplaced. It is well settled that the trustee in foreclosure 
must strictly comply with the statutory requirements. 
Albice, 174 Wash.2d at 568, 276 P.3d 1277 (citing Udall, 
159 Wash.2d at 915-16, 154 P.3d 882). A trustee in a 
nonjudicial foreclosure may not exceed the authority vested 
by that statute. !d. 

Schroeder, 177 Wn.2dat 111-12, 

Division III's interpretation of Bavand is equally misplaced. 

Bavand cites Shroeder for the principal that waiver does not occur where 

the trustee's actions in a non-judicial foreclosure are unlawful: 

In so holding, the Supreme Court reinforced a basic 
statement of law that it originally had made in Cox v. 
Helenius: Even where a party fails to timely enjoin a 
trustee sale under RCW 61.24.130, if a trustee's actions 
are unlawful, the sale is void In such cases, there is no 
waiver of the right to seek and obtain relief 
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Bavand, 176 Wn.App. at 645. Emphasis added. 

Next, waiver only applies to actions to vacate a sale, not to actions 

for damages. InFrizzellv. Murray, 179 Wn.2d 301,313 P.3d 1171 

(2013), Frizzell obtained a TRO but failed to pay the bond and the trial 

court held that was a waiver of all claims. The trial court was reversed on 

appeal and upheld by this Court because: "Waiver only applies to actions 

to vacate the sale and not to an action for damages." Frizzell, 179 Wn.2d 

at 1175, citing Schroeder 177 Wn.2d at 114 (quoting Klem v. Washington 

Mutual Bank, 176 Wn. 2d 771,796,295 P.3d 1179 (2013) 

C. A valid and completed trustee's sale is a contract and 
Uribe is entitled to the benefits of that contract. 

The Division III stated: "The Uribes make a variety of contentions 

that the sale violated the DTA, all ofwhich are without legal support." 

(Unpublished opinion at p. 7), including the argument that the Libey 

formed a contract with the Benton foreclosure: 

RCW 61.24.050(1) states: 

( 1) Upon physical delivery of the trustee's deed to the 
purchaser, ... , if the trustee accepts a bid, then the trustee's 
sale is final as of the date and time of such acceptance if the 
trustee's deed is recorded within fifteen days thereafter. 
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This Court construed this statute in Udall: "Does RCW 61.24.050 

mandate that the trustee deliver the deed of trust (aka "trustee's deed") to 

the purchaser following a non-judicial foreclosure sale, absent a 

procedural irregularity that voids the sale." Udall at 908. Or, stated 

another way, when is the sale final? And then- can the trustee alter the 

terms of the sale after it is final? 

In Udall, the trustee hired an auctioneer to call the trustee's sale. 

The trustee instructed the auctioneer to make an opening bid of $159,421. 

However, the auctioneer missed a digit and made an opening bid of 

$59,421. Udall bid one dollar more. There were no other bidders. Udall 

tendered full payment and received a receipt. 

A trustee's deed was not issued to Udall. The trustee discovered 

the $100,000 mistake and mailed Udall a check for the amount he paid 

along with the explanation that the auctioneer was not authorized to open 

bidding at $59,421.20. Udall filed an action to quiet title. Udall, 159 

Wn.2d at 907-908. 

This Court held that the plain meaning of the statute is: "the 

effective date for recording a trustee's deed relates back to the date and 

time of the non-judicial foreclosure sale ifthe deed is recorded within 15 

days." Id at 910 (Emphasis added). The court stated: 
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Acceptance at auction "is commonly signified by 
the fall of the hammer or by the auctioneer's announcement 
'Sold,' after which the "sale is consummated [and n]either 
party can withdraw .... When the auctioneer Hayes 
announced "sold,'' Hayes accepted Udall's bid on TD's 
behalf and a contract was formed. TD could not re-exercise 
its power of acceptance to reject Udall's bid when it later 
discovered the erroneous opening bid amount. 

Udall, 159 Wn.2d at 912. (Emphasis added). 

This Court also noted that: 

The trustee cannot withhold the delivery [of the deed] 
unless the sale itself is void due to a procedural 
irregularity that defeated the trustee's authority to sell the 
property .... Insufficiency of price, as in this sale, is not a 
procedural irregularity that voids the sale it is merely a 
mistake. 

Id at 911. 

Udall is directly on point. When the auctioneer announced, "sold" 

at the Franklin trustee's sale, a contract was formed. The terms of the 

contract are confirmed in the Trustee's Deed, which states: 

10 ...... the Trustee then and there sold at public to said 
Grantee, the highest bidder therefor, the property 
hereinabove described for the sum of Three Hundred 
Ninety Thousand Dollars ($390,000) cash by the 
satisfaction in full of the obligation then secured by said 
Deed of Trust ............. . 

CP 513-517. 

According to Division III, there were no procedural irregularities 

of a magnitude that would void the sale: 
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"The Uribes are complaining of an extremely minor, 
technical failure in the foreclosure proceeding, which has 
not apparently harmed them in any way .......... " 

Unpublished Opinion, pg. 5 

If Uribe must live with the consequences of the "minor, technical" 

procedural irregularities, then under the mandatory authority of RCW 

61.24.040 and Udall; the Franklin debt (e.g. approx. $2,432,990.58) was 

fully satisfied by the acceptance of $390,000 cash. As in Udall, this may 

be a mistake BUT the lender and trustee are bound by it. 

And later, at the Benton trustee's sale, the principal amount of the 

debt secured by the Benton property was the amount expressly stated in 

the Notice of Trustee's Sale, $329,178.90. Any bid greater than that 

amount is a surplus that must be paid to Uribe under RCW 61.24.080(3)? 

There is no other way to apply Udall or to construe the statute 

other than the method and manner used by Division III to nullify any 

rights Uribe had at the trustee's sale to protect Libey and future trustees. 

D. Libey breached his duty of good faith during the entire 
foreclosure proceedings. 

3 At the completion of the Benton Trustee's Sale all of the debt 
secured by Uribe's equipment was reduced to $0. Uribe is therefore also 
entitled to be paid the amounts received from the sale of their equipment 
after the foreclosure sale. 
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Division III held: 

The Uribes make a variety of contentions that aspects of the 
sale violated the DTA, all ofwhich are without legal 
support. 

2015 WL 2124358 at 3. 

(1) The anti-deficiency provisions ofRCW 61.24.100. 

The anti-deficiency provisions of RCW 61.24.100 strictly prohibit 

a deficiency judgment against a borrower4 following the non-judicial 

foreclosure of a deed of trust except in two situations in commercial loans. 

First, if the value of the property is impaired because of waste or the 

wrongful retention of rents per 61.24.100(3)(a). Secondly, under RCW 

61.24.100(3)(b ): 

(3) This chapter does not preclude any one or more of the 
following after a trustee's sale under a deed of trust 
securing a commercial loan executed after June 11, 1998. 

(b) Any judicial or non-judicial foreclosures of any other deeds of 
trust, mortgages .......... covering any real or personal property 
granted to secure the obligation that was secured by the deed of 
trust foreclosed; 

This statute specifically provides that BW could foreclose on other 

security agreements, such as a mortgage or deed of trust "granted to secure 

4 RCW 61.24.100(3)(c) also permits a deficiency judgment against a 
"guarantor" of a commercial loan. This section is not applicable here 
because Uribe is not a "guarantor." Uribe is a "borrower" and therefore 
cannot be a "guarantor." RCW 61.24.005(8) 
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the obligation that was secured by the deed of trust foreclosed." "The 

obligation" is in the singular. This means one loan secured by multiple 

properties, which was the legislative response to the Donovick.5 

There is just one way Libey and BW could have complied with this 

statute to recover the balance of the Franklin loan. That is by foreclosing 

the Franklin deed of trust non-judicially first and then conducting a 

judicial foreclosure of the mortgage on the Benton Property for the 

remaining balance due on the Franklin loan. There is no other way to 

interpret and strictly apply RCW 61.24.100(3)(b). 

Mr. Libey and the Bank elected to take a shortcut that is not 

permitted by the DT A and there is no way to reconcile their actions with 

the DTA.

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