RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 30, 2015, 10:52 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

CASE NO. 91928-3

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (Court of Appeals Division III, Case No 32315-3-III)

MICHAEL URIBE and HELEN URIBE husband and wife,

Appellants,

v.

LIBEY, ENSLEY & NELSON, PLLC, a Washington professional limited liability company; GARY LIBEY and JANE DOE LIBEY, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof, RANDALL RUPP AND LUZ DARYL-RUPP, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof; and 7HA FAMILY, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondents.

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

## III. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT LIBEY WAS PROPERLY APPOINTED AND THE URIBES WAIVED THEIR PRE-SALE CHALLENGES TO THE TRUSTEE'S SALES.

At the outset, it bears noting that in any case involving the application of the Deeds of Trust Act ("DTA"), the Court should consider the three goals of the act: (1) that the non-judicial foreclosure process be efficient and inexpensive, (2) that parties have an adequate opportunity to prevent

wrongful foreclosure, and (3) that the stability of land titles be promoted.

Plein v. Lackey, 149 Wn.2d 214, 225 67 P.3d 1061 (2003).

The Uribes claim that certain pre-sale aspects of the foreclosure process were improper, including the (1) timing of recording Libey's appointment as successor trustee approximately two hours after the Notices of Sale were recorded and (2) an issue with the notarization on the prior trustee's withdrawal as trustee. CP 363-386. The Uribes failed to raise these issues prior to the sales.

## a) The Uribes waived the time-gap issue.

The Uribes' claims to set aside, vacate, or void the sale should be dismissed because the Uribes have admitted they were on notice of the alleged issue, and therefore under the DTA, they should have sought to restrain the sale. Not seeking to restrain the sale was a waiver of their right to do so in this case. *See Frizzell v. Murray*, 179 Wn. 2d 301, 306-7, 313 P.3d 1171 (2013); *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn.2d 214, 229 (2003).

In the Uribes' answers to interrogatories in this case, they testified in relevant part:

The world, including Rupp and 7HA, were put on actual notice of Libey's lack of authority to sell the Benton County Property when the instruments for the non-judicial foreclosure were recorded Strong v. Clark, 56 Wn.2d 230 (1960) (When an instrument involving real property is properly recorded, it becomes notice to all the world of its contents (citations omitted)). Therefore and notwithstanding actual knowledge of a procedural irregularity in the

trustee's sale, Rupp and 7HA proceeded to acquire the Benton County Property from the BW [Bank of Whitman] for a price less than what the Benton County Property was worth, which according to the bankruptcy court, was worth \$1.5 million.

CP 348-362 (emphasis added). If the Uribes are claiming that the current owners of the Benton County property, the Rupp Defendants, were on notice, then the Uribes were also on notice. Because the Uribes admittedly had notice, they should have sought to restrain the sale before it occurred, and because they did not seek to restrain the sale (or even contact Libey to address the alleged issue), the Uribes waived their right to raise the issue now.

For their argument that the DTA requires strict compliance with the DTA, that the waiver issue is irrelevant, and that the inquiry ends if strict compliance does not occur, the Uribes rely on *Albice v. Premier Mortgage Servs. of Wash.* 174 Wn.2d 560, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012).

In Albice, the trustee did not conduct the sale within 120 days, and accordingly, the Court held that trustee did not strictly comply with the DTA. *Albice* at 568-569. However, the Uribes fail to address the next part of the *Albice* analysis which is the waiver issue.

Despite finding a procedural irregularity with the sale, the Supreme

Court then addressed the next part of the analysis regarding whether Albice

("Tecca") waived her right to raise the issue by not raising the issue prior to

the sale in accordance with RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX) ("Anyone having any objection to the sale on any grounds whatsoever will be afforded an opportunity to be heard as to those objections if they bring a lawsuit to restrain the sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.130. Failure to bring such a lawsuit may result in a waiver of any proper grounds for invalidating the trustee's sale.")(emphasis added). See Albice at 569-572. The Albice Court reasoned:

We have found waiver in a foreclosure setting where the facts support its application. In Plein [Plein v. Lackey, 149 Wn.2d 214, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003)], we established that waiver of any postsale challenge occurs where a party (1) received notice of the right to enjoin the sale, (2) had actual or constructive knowledge of a defense to foreclosure prior to the sale, and (3) failed to bring an action to obtain a court order enjoining the sale.

Albice at 569. The Albice court conducted the waiver analysis and found that Tecca rightly assumed the sale would be cancelled because she had made her payments (late) under the parties' forbearance agreement and therefore, she would have had no reason to think she needed to file a lawsuit to stop the sale, a sale she rightly assumed would be cancelled. The Court found that it would be inequitable to apply waiver to the facts of the case. Albice at 569-572.

If the law is as the Uribes state, that failure to strictly follow the DTA ends the analysis, then there would have been no reason for the Supreme

Court to engage in the waiver analysis in *Albice*. Essentially, the Uribes' argument guts the waiver statute, rendering it meaningless.

Unlike the debtors in *Albice*, the Uribes received notice of the sale, knew when the sale would take place, and were on notice of the alleged defects at issue in this case. Yet, they did not bring a lawsuit to restrain the sale, and instead, allowed the sale to proceed and did not file their post-sale lawsuit until 11 months after the sale. The Court of Appeals in this case conducted the same analysis as the Supreme Court did in *Albice*. Just because the *Albice* facts favored non-waiver and the Uribe facts favored waiver does not mean that the Court of Appeals analysis conflicts with the Supreme Court's analysis.

Similarly, the Uribes misplace reliance on *Bavand v. OneWest Bank* 176 Wn.App. 475, 309 P.3d 636 (Div 1, 2013). In *Bavand*, the purported trustee that conducted the non-judicial foreclosure NEVER had the authority to conduct the foreclosure because it was not properly appointed. *Id.* at 488-490. This Uribe case is distinguishable from *Bavand*. Libey became authorized to act as the trustee when he filed his appointment with the County Clerk two hours after filing the notices of sale. Accordingly Libey was a properly appointed trustee and was authorized to conduct the foreclosure sale.

Similarly, the Uribes reliance on *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group, LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) is misplaced. Schroeder involved the non-judicial foreclosure of agricultural land. The Court held that agricultural land could not be the subject of a non-judicial foreclosure under the DTA and therefore, the trustee lacked the statutory authority to foreclose nonjudicially. *Id.* at 111-112. The waiver issue is irrelevant.<sup>2</sup>

In *Steward v. Good*, 51 Wn. App. 509, 754 P.2d 150 (1988), an action was brought against the purchaser of a foreclosed property, seeking to set aside the trustee sale based in part on allegations that the trustee failed to file the notice of sale until approximately 30 days before the sales took place, despite the statutory requirement that the notice of sale be recorded 90 days before the actual sale. *Id.* at 515. The Court held that despite the technical flaw in filing times, the sale was not void because there was no harm to the debtor, particularly where the debtor had notice of the flaw and failed to restrain the sale. *Id.* 

The Uribes cannot show that that recording issue had any effect on the sales or harmed them in any way. Mr. Libey was properly appointed by the Bank of Whitman and everything he did after the RAST was recorded was properly authorized, including the sales.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Similarly, in *Merry v. Northwest Trust Services*, 2015 WL 3532992 (June 4, 2015), the Court of Appeals followed the Supreme Court's two step analysis in *Albice*, finding the equities favored waiver.

b) The notarization issue is irrelevant relating to Resignation of the Prior Trustee in the Resignation and Appointment of Successor Trustee, and the Uribe waived the issue.

The Uribes are claiming that the notary's signature predates the signature of the Chicago Title trustee and, therefore, the resignation of Chicago Title as trustee was invalid. While this argument was similarly waived, it is irrelevant because the original trustee does not need to resign in order for a successor trustee to be appointed. RCW 61.24.010(2)("The trustee may resign at its own election or be replaced by the beneficiary"). The Uribes' argument fails.

## c) No damages claims survive.

Next, as an apparent back-up position, the Uribes argue that even if their failure to obtain presale relief under RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX) results in the waiver of their attempt to invalidate the trustee sales, they did not waive their claims for damages, citing *Frizzell v. Murray*, 179 Wn.2d 301, 310-313 (2013) and RCW 61.24.127 (Failure to bring civil action to enjoin foreclosure--Not a waiver of claims).

RCW 61.24.127 does not apply to this case for any <u>one</u> of the following reasons.

First, the statute does not apply to commercial loans. RCW 61.24.127 (4). In this case, the deeds of trust secured commercial loans (development of unimproved real property; construction of a pipeline).

See, e.g., Appellants' Opening Brief in Court of Appeals at 2-4; CP 66, 462-482

Second, the statute only applies to foreclosure of owner-occupied residential real property. RCW 61.24.127(3). Libey is not aware of any evidence in the record that the foreclosed real property was owner-occupied residential real property. Instead, the real property was unimproved land.

Third, the statute only saves the following claims, none of which are asserted or viable in this case. Under RCW 61.24.127(1)(a)-(d), the only saved claims are (1) "common law fraud or misrepresentation" (The Uribes allege no claims for fraud or misrepresentation, CP 62-84): (2) "a violation of Title 19 RCW (when the Uribes abandoned their claims for alleged collusive bidding, conspiracy and chilled bidding, they abandoned their CPA claim, Appellant's Court of Appeals Brief at 20, CP 78 (third cause of action); (3) "failure of the trustee to materially comply with the provisions of this chapter [DTA]" (the alleged defects are hyper-technical at most and did not damage the Uribes); or (4) "a violation of RCW 61.24.026" (inapplicable in this case).

B. THE BACK-TO-BACK SALES FORECLOSING ON THE CROSS-COLLATERALIZED LOANS WERE PROPER (NO DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT), AND NO CONTRACT TO THE CONTRARY WAS CREATED AT THE TRUSTEE'S SALE.

The Franklin loan was secured by a first priority deed of trust on the Franklin County property located in Pasco, Washington, and a first priority mortgage on the Benton County property. CP 136-139, 198-270. In addition, the loan was also secured with personal property that the Uribes used in their excavation business under the company name Uribe, Inc. CP 936-942.

Similarly, the Benton loan was secured by a second priority deed of trust on the Benton County property, and a second priority mortgage on the Franklin County property. CP 136-193. In addition, as with the Franklin loan, the Benton loan was also secured with personal property that the Uribes used in their excavation business under the company name Uribe, Inc. CP 943-957. This deed of trust also included a cross-collateralization clause linked to the 2002 Franklin Loan.

Citing *Udall v. T.D. Escrow Svcs.*, 159 Wn.2d 903, 154 P.2d 882 (2007),<sup>3</sup> the Uribes seem to be alleging that the "full satisfaction" language that appears in the trustee's deeds demonstrates that after the first sale took place at 10:00 a.m. for the Franklin County property, the proceeds of the second Benton County property sale should go to the Uribes because the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Udall* is irrelevant to the "full satisfaction" language in the trustee's deeds. *Udall* addresses an issue where the trustee accepted a third party bidder's offer at the auction. The "full satisfaction" in the Uribe case did not occur until all real properties and personal property were sold to satisfy the Uribe's cross-collateralized debt.

deed indicates that their debt had been fully satisfied. A parallel claim by the Uribes is that the nature of the sales—being held back-to-back—was somehow improper. They also allege that because the Trustees' Deeds state that the bids were made in "cash" that the cash proceeds from the Benton County sale should be given to the Uribes because of the "full satisfaction language" and/or because the sales were allegedly held improperly. CP 363-386.

However, the Uribes' claims overlook three critical facts: (1) the Trustee's Deeds were executed several days after the actual sales took place, not at the sales themselves; (2) per *Donovick v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank*, back-to-back sales are an appropriate way to liquidate collateral under two separate deeds of trust; and (3) the Uribes had no equity in the property.

Significantly, the Trustee's Deeds were not drafted or executed at the sales themselves. Instead, *several days after the sales took place* when the Trustee's Deeds were being drafted, the "full satisfaction" language was included to indicate that the Bank of Whitman was not going to go after the Uribes for any deficiency, despite the fact that there were two mortgages still in place. CP 933 at ¶8. The non-judicial foreclosures and the personal property sales were in "full satisfaction" of the Uribes' obligations, despite the fact that the Bank of Whitman only recovered approximately \$1.8

million on the Uribes' approximately \$2.7 million debt owing and that there were mortgages on both properties.

Additionally, while the Trustee's Deeds indicate that the bids were in "cash," they were not. *Id.* At both the Franklin and Benton County property sales, a portion of the Uribes' debt was bid by the Bank of Whitman, not cash. *Id.* Therefore, there is no cash to deposit or to have been wrongfully withheld by the Bank of Whitman.

Regardless of the language in the Trustee's Deeds, the Uribes are also alleging that the sales themselves were improperly held, and thus, the second sale of the Benton property should be vacated or void. Contrary to the Uribes' arguments, the back-to-back sales are proper, as established in *Donovick v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank*, 111 Wn.2d 413, 757 P.2d 1378 (1988).

In *Donovick*, the Washington Supreme Court upheld Seattle-First

National Bank's right to non-judicially foreclose on a second deed of trust
where there were two separate deeds of trust on separate properties,
securing one financial obligation. *Id.* at 416. The Court held that the
bank's first foreclosure on a first deed of trust was irrelevant to the status of
the second. *Id.* "Any other result would 'give an unjustified, unwarranted
windfall to the debtor—a windfall completely without merit in logic or
equity in principle." *Id.; see also Beal Bank, SSB v. Sarich,* 161 Wn.2d

544, 553, 167 P.3d 555 (2007). The *Donovick* Court emphasized that the Deed of Trust Act does not preclude a creditor bank from realizing upon the entire security given by debtors. 111 Wn.2d at 416. In fact, the Court stated that "the Deed of Trust Act does not mandate or even contemplate that the entirety of the security must be sold in gross as a single parcel." *Id.* at 415.

In this case, the larger of the Uribes' two loans, the 2002 Franklin loan, was secured by some of Plaintiff's personal property, a first priority deed of trust on the Franklin property, and a first priority mortgage on the Benton County property. CP 136-139, 198-270. The second loan, the 2007 Benton loan, was secured by some of the Uribes' personal property, a second priority deed of trust on the Benton County property, and a second priority mortgage on the Franklin County property. CP 136-193. Notably too, the second 2007 loan included a cross-collateralization clause back to the 2002 Franklin loan. CP 200. Just as in *Donovick* where the Court allowed the bank to conduct back-to-back foreclosure sales to recover the debt owing, here, holding back-to-back foreclosure sales to recover the debt owing on two separate deeds of trust was the proper way for the bank to attempt to recover on the Uribes' exceptionally large debt under both

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Collateral" states "Borrower acknowledges this Note is secured by all previous Mortgages" and includes both the first priority mortgage on the Benton county property and the first priority deed of trust on the Franklin County property).

loans. Notably too, the fact that there were two loans in this case versus one loan in the *Donovick* case is an irrelevant distinction, as the cross-collateralization clause permits the Bank of Whitman to realize upon all collateral secured under the loans, as they did.

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